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In 1945 Warten D. Evyoxvs, the author of Rome Haul and Drums Along the Mohawk, received the assign-

ment to wwrite the valiant story of the American Air Force in the Philippines in the first year of the war. He inter-

siewed some eighty of the pilots and ground offcers Wl surcived; he

ed Manila in the spring of “15. le

checked his source material against the official records, and his chronicle They Fought with What They Had,

e first volume of which will be published in September, is an inspiring story of American'courage. From it,

we have selected the most crucial single episode, the firss Japanese attack on the aitfields north of Manila.

WHAT HAPPENED

AT CLARK FIELD

by WALTER D. EDMONDS

did not come to the Philippines on
Sunday, December 7, as it did to
Pearl Harbor. The arbitrary date-
liuc, by mens of which min secks o

Philippines on Decembor 8, So, m)mul]). it was
ot Sunday

in lhu Philippin
ally when
suw the same sunrise
though it had taken five and a hall hours of
earth’s slnw turning to bring it over Luzon
M

Madre

The Jupunea(, dive bombers, heading in on our
5 Pear]

il rc"Nurul
1l oper-

g lash from Pearl.
1Imugh uﬂ il confirmation dul not come lhmn"h
till about 5.00, all but two of our Air Corps un
had been alerted by 4.30 and the fighter pilots were
in or standing by their planes.

It was not the first time they had been alerted.
Beginning on December 2 an unidentified plane had
flown on four successive nights over Clark Field,
north of Manila, and on three occasions squadron
search missions had been flown to intereept it.
On the night of December 5-6, the commanding

officer of the 8rd Pursuit Squadron, stationed at the
lonely airstrip at Iba, on the west coast of Luzon,
had made a lone attempt to find a flight of planes
reported off the const, and even as the word of Pearl
Iarbor came into Manila the 3rd Pursuit Sq
ully attempting interception of an-
ion of strange planes.

Thes upv,nuu s had robbed the pursuit pilots,
at le  illusions about our impregnable de-
fenses, such as Tulled so many people at Pearl Har-
bor. They knew that their own installations would
the first Japanese objective. Now on the mori
ing of the 8th, they were to have cight full hours
which to get set for the arrival of the enemy. Yet
when the se effort materialized at 12.40

it proved as successful as the sneak attac
against Pearl Harbor, Our units
contiael or were swept asi

d o ma

We decide to defend the Philippines

The decision that ilippines could, and
should, be defended was not reached in Washington
till August, 1941, For years the nds been
regarded more or less as an unprotected pawn; no
attempt was to be made to defend Manila in case of
i on Luzon

would withdraw immediately
with the harbor forts to back llu.m, llluv would en~
deavor to hold on till help arrived from this coun-
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try. The change in strategy was largely due to the
optimistic reports of General Mac \nhur. \\|I0 on
July 26, 1941, had been recalled to
the 128, Army and under whom our forces uf the
old Philippine Department and the  Philippine
Army were combined as United States Armed
Forees in the Far East (USAFFE). MacArthur
I that with the growing strength of the
Philippine Army, which had been training under his
command sinee 1935, any invading foree could be
met and defeated on the “henches.

It was plain that an open campuign of the sort he
envisaged would depend heavily on control of the
r; but when the former Philippine Department
Air Foree came under his command, it contained
only one medium bombardmaft squadron, equipped
with slow, vulnerable, and obsolete B-18s, and three
pursuit squadrons, two of which were flying ob-
solescent 1 and the third P-40Bs that had just
ched the Philippines. This little foree would
© hucn no more than a blown feather in the f:

air mmvk vul it represented a consid-
-y dnd strength since the
nrri\ul in Muy of its nding Officer, Briga-
dier General Henry Clagett, and his Chief of Staff,
Colonel Harold 11,

1d been deeply concerned
ir and almost at onee had

cgun work on a p for the uir defense of the
Philippines. His plan was essentially offensive in
design and consequently called for planes, men, and
matériel in totals-that to some air officers on Luzon
seemed utterly fantastic, and General Clagett feared
that it would produce explosive cffeets in Washing-
ton. For u time the plan was allowed to hang fire,
but in working out de George had had frequent
conferences with Gene Arthur's Chiel of
Stafl, Licutenant Colonel Sutherland.

Sutherland, who was soon to be promoted Briga-
jor G had heen impressed by George's ide
little Department Air Force became Air
AFFE, he asked to have George's plan
submitted to Headquarters. A slightly watered-
down version was at first sent in, but Sutherland
wanted the original. Tt was endorsed by MacArthur
and, |||)i\'(l 1o certain changes, beeame the basis for
expi Nun of USAPTE"

The
rapidly but, ax events proved, not rapidly enough.
An objective date of April, 1942, w ty and the
War Department, which now firmly backed the
program for a real build-up of our l’m' ir power,

we could from our very slender resources and get
them out there.

InSeptember, 1941, therefore, a provisional heavy
bombardment squadron, the 14th, under Major
Emmett 0'Donnell, Jr., took off from Hickam
Tield in Hawaii with 9 B-17Cs, to pioncer a new
transpacific route o the Philippines. It was not
considered safe to land on Guam, so from Wake
Isknd the planes flew southwest (o Port Moresby

2 New Guine: . took them over the Jap-
held Carolines, but they flew at altitude and by
night, and no incidents occurred. From Port
Moresby they went to Darwin and then flew north
across the Indies to Luzon, landing at Clark Field
in the heel of a typhoon and damaging one of their
planes.  Early ctober two combat squadrons
of the 19th Bombardment Group, the 30th and 93rd,
followed with their Ileadquarters and Headquarters
Squadron in 26 B-17Ds and sel up operations at

lark Field under their Commanding Officer, Licu-
tenant Colonel Eugene L. Eubank, as the :19th
Group, absorbing both the 14th Squadron and the
old 28th Squadron, which was to receive eight of the
B-17s for their own use.

Meunwhile enough P-40Es were sent out in Octo-
ber 1o equip the 8rd and 17th Pursuit Squadrons,
and in November two ) e scheduled
to leave the States with two more pursuit squadrons
and one light bombardment group. The pursuit
quadrons, the 21st and 34th, were at half pilot
strength but had their full complement of ground
troops. They reached Manila on November 20 and
were immediately absorbed by the 24th Pursuit
Group, which had been organized with the three
isting pursuit squadrons late in September. The
pilots of the 21st and 34th Squadrons had expected
to find P-40s waiting for them, but the planes had
only just arrived and still had to be uncrated. So
they took over the P-35s while they waited.

At that they were more fortunate than the pilots
of the 27th Bombardment Group. The 27th had
arrived on the same convoy, but their planes had
been loaded on the sccond convoy, which did not
leave Hawaii till just before December 8. The ~lup=
were caught at sea by the outbreak of hostilities
and diverted to Australiag so except for a handful
of pilots who were later evacuated from Luzon, the
27th Group fought their on the ground. They
took no part in the air action of December 8.

The airfields

T'o command this rapidly expanding air force,

planned 1o alloc
groups and two additional )mmm groups to the
Philippines. But the planes were still building, the
erows for them had not yet been trained, and the
rush of events would not stay. Tt heeame obvious
that it we wanted first-line combat air power in the
Philippines as a deterrent to the southward agy
sion of Japan we had better serape together what

the War 1 now sent out Major General
Lewis I1. Brereton, He arrived on November 7 and,
after a tour of inspection, set up his Headquarters
at Niclson Ficld, on the southeast edge of Manila.
On November 16 the a ir units were redesignated the
I'ar East Air Fore SAF) with three subsidiary
commans st Air Service Commxmd
under Colonel Lawrence S rehill; 5th
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Bomber Command, under Licutenant  Colonel
Fubank; and the 5th Interceptor Command, under
Brigadier General Clagett.

Colonel George was made A-+ (Supply) in the
new Headquarters and by December 8 was advanced
10 Chicf of Stafl of the Interceptor Command. At
{he outset the erection of new airfields claimed all
his encrgics. In May there had been only four air-
ficlds on Luzon considered fit for military aireraft,
Of these, Clark was the only first-class field and,
though turf-surfaced, the only one thought capable
of taking B-17s. The surrounding grout d was 100
<oft to bear the weight of n heavy bamber, however,
5o the Fortresses had to be parked out on the field

All
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time to ereet only one other, just outside Manila,
by December 8. Almost from the first night of op-
eration, the radar at Iba began to pick up the tracks
of strange formations of airplaies over the sea.
On the night of the 5th, Licutenant Henry G.
“Thorne, flying alone, attempted to intercept them
but failed to find the planes. He and his men were
cager 1o try a squadron interception and requested
permission to do so. Colonel George taok the re-
quest dircetly to MacArthur's Headquarters. They
were given permission to make the attempt, though

LOCATION OF

jiself without any possibility of lag ,
attempts 1o win appropriations (o drain the sur- [
rounding land had met defeat.

Niclson, at which FEAF Headquarters was lo-
ented, was classed as # fighter field but had few
fucilities and was little used. Iba, on the Zambales
const well north of Subic Bay, had been a training
camp for the Philippine Constabulary. Tts little
strip bordered the beach for half its length and of-
fered no opportunities for camouflag

The principal fighter field was which,
like Nielson, lay on the outskirts of Manila, Tt was
“half surrounded by the Paranaque River, and the
only approach to it was over a two-lane bridge, The
field boasted the only hard-surfaced strip in the
Tslands but it had been laid out on u series of rice
fields and during the ason reverted o its
former swampy status.

During thesummer months work had been start ed
on two auxiliary fighter fields at Del Carmen, 14
miles south of Clark Field, and Rosales, 50 miles
north, They weré nothing but raw dirt strips, with-
es of any kind, but Del C:
¢ the 34th Pursuit Squa

b used
Rosales proved  brief haven for a few of our pu
suits on December 8. Now, in November, work was
begun o four more strips on Luzon, but only

1 Marcelino, 8 miles above the head of Subi
was ever used,
Meanwhile the 5th Air Base Group, wi
come out on the November 20 convoy,
down 1o Mindanao to open a base for the expected
7th Bombardment Group at Del Monte. They
found that the upland sod would casily carry a
Fortress, and in a few days they had cut out a .
1t was 1 fortunate cireumstanec, for by December 5
the continuing appearance of the lone plane over
Clark Field had made the position of the B-17s
there increasingly hazardous. On the'night of De-
comber 5-6, 16 B-17s of the 14th and 93rd Squ
rons were sent down to Del Monte. Except for t
we should probably have lost all our Fortres
the first day of war.
By the beginning of December, the first radar
set had gone into operation at Iba. Six other
had arrived at the end of November, but there was

8
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The first-line planes

On December 6. Colonel George had called most
of his pursuit pilots into the thenter at Nichols Field
and told them that in his opinion war was only a
matter of days, possibly only hours, away. Ie
pointed out that they would have about 70 first-
line planes 10 throw against the huge Jap air fect,
but he believed that they would turn in a good
performance. i

In using thi

figrure, he was hetting on time enough
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1o equip the 21st Squadron with P-40s that were
even then coming out of the Air Depot. There
be time to slow-time the engines (a process
ar to breaking in the motor of a car), and to
install and boresight the guns. The acute shortage
of .50 caliber ammunition made the las operation
difficult, for only a fow rounds were available for
fest purposcs. Dractically all gunnery training was
earried on in the P-33s using .30 caliber guns.

That was Saturday. Work did not stop with dark-
ness, for the Air Corps was now working the clock
around in effort to be ready. Sunday made no
difference cither, at Nichols Field, and men were
«till at work when the sun went down. At that time
the squadrons of the 2+th Pursuit Group turned in
the following status report, giving location and
combat strength of its tactical squadrons: —

1. 8rd Pursuit Squadron, Iha, comn anded by Lt.
I1. G. Thorne, 18 P-40Es in commission.

. 17th Parsuit Squadron, Nichols Field, commanded
by Lt. Boyd D. Wagner, 18 P-$0Ex in commission.

20th Pursuit Squadron. Clarlk Field, commanded
by L. J. H. Moore, 18 P-10Bs in commission,
4. 25t Pursuit Squadron, Nickols Field, commanded

by Lt. W. E. Dyess, 18 P-40Es in commission.
5. 34th Pursuit Squadron, Del Carmen. commanded
by Lt S, H. Marrett, 18 P-354s in commission.

Tt added up to 54 P-40Es, 18 P-+0Bs, a d 18 P-354s,
an official total of 90 first-line, combat-worthy
plan

In actual fact the Group’s strength did not ap-
proach that figure. The I had been used by all
the different squadrons as work horses before being
(urned over to the 34th. They carried only two .50
caliber wing guns besides the 30 caliber guns on the
fusclage, and the last were worn out from steady
use in gunnery training. Al of them had done over
500 hours and needed an engine change, a condition
which was seriously aggravated by the heavy dust
on Del Carmen Ficld.

“Phe 21st Squadron at Nichols Field had received
the last four planes s 18 that same day, the
cighteenth being delivered after dark. Noneof these
four had been in the air hefore being taken up
into combat; and the squadron had not been able
to i ming the other plan In fact none
of the planes had had more than three hours in the

air.

“Phere were therefore but three puesuit squadrons
in the Philippines on December 7 w irst-line
planes actually fit for combat. This foree of 54 pur-
it planes, coupled with the 34 B-17s in commis-
sion. made a total of 88 first-line aircraft in which
our men were asked 10 face the Japanese air force.
“They fought their brand-new P-40s and worn-out
P-35s down to the last ship. The pilots, however,
had still to learn the limitations of the P-10s; and
they had to learn them under actual battle condi-
tions against odds that were seldom less than ten to
one and sometimes nearer twenty.
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Nor was their B-17 the Flying Fortress that
ended the war over Germany, with its power tur-
rets, heavierarmor, and tail guns. These B-17Csand
Ds could only protect themselves adequately in full
squadron formation in level flight, but the way the
‘men had to fight them during the first days — one,
twa, or three ships over the target — they might as
well, as Major (later General) O'Donnell said, have
been flying spotted ponies.

“The' pursuit pilots lacked oxygen and oxygen
equipment hortage which limited the cffective
ciling of our pursuit planes 10 12,000 or 15,000 feet
or to the indi al pilot's reaction to altitude. The
air-warning c proved next to uscless in the
pinch; the ship-to-ground communications worked
only sporadically; and the planes were based on
four fields — all of which were known to the enemy
through espionage and air reconnaissance. On these
fields there were, of course, the other planes that
added up to paper totals which made our air
strength in the Philippines sound fairly impressive:
0-465 and worthless 0-52s of the Observation
Squadron, all shot down in the first three days of
war; 12 B-18s, two of them at Del Monte, which
were used to run supplics to Mindanao with as
great hazard to their crews from the weather as
from the Japanesc; 8 A-27s, two of which could
fly; and miscellancous trainers, observation planes,
and broken-down bombers.

TFinally, of course, there was the 27th Bombard-
ment Group, whose plancs had never come. On the
evening of December 7 thé officers gave a dinner for
General Brereton at the Manila Hotel. It was quite
n and it is probable that none of the
ating 27th noticed the General slipping out
on them, first to confer with Admiral Purnell and a
little later with General Sutherland. From them he
learned that in the opinion of the War and Navy
Departments war might break out at any time.
Brereton ealled his stafl together and had Colonel
Brady warn all airfields to go on combat alert. At
the same time plans for field exercises, which were
{0 have recalled the B-17s from Mindanao to Clark
Field, were canccled.

Meanwhile the 27th’s party at the Manila ITotel
continued on its course, breaking up finally at 2
o'clock on December 8. Manila was quiet as the
men found their way back to Fort McKinley
through the blackout. Only the sound of their
jeeps or, after they had gone, the quick clopping
feet of a little Filipino horse taking home a calesa
full of Sunday stragglers could be heard in thestreets.

Iba's radar picks up the Japs

Less than an hour later, the men watching the
radar sercen in the half-buried hut at Iba saw the
tracks of the first big flight of Japancse bombers
coming down from Formosa through the still dark-
ness over the South China Sea.

“There was no question of the flight’s identity.
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They had to be the Japanese, for all planes on
Luzon except the 8rd Pursuit Squadron’s were
grounded. The men thought that this was war at
Tast — both the men in the cockpits of the planes
and the others standing by to see them off. No
{ime was wasted, no words were needed. The
interception had been carefully planned and every
pilot knew his place in the formation they were to
fiy. The engines thundered as they wére run up;
then came a moment of comparative quict before
Licutenant Thorne’s plane moved out from the rest,
roared briefly down the strip, and almost in the
instant of becoming airborne turned away over
the sea. One by one the others followed, the blast
of their propellers driving clouds of dust back
through the darkness. Then they were gone. The
beat of their engines grew fainter than the soft
ot of the sea along the beach. Only the men in-!
side the sunken hut, their intent upon the
radar sereen, could follow them. .

The pilots knew their heading but they did not
know at what altitude the Japanese were flying,
for the radar set at Iha had no means of estimating
altitude. So they themselves were at staggered
altitudes to ufford the greatest pos: ble chance of
interception. Their orders of the night before still
held: if they found the Japancse within 20 miles of
shore, they were to shoot on ight.  But they saw
nothing at all, though they searched far bey
(heir 20-mile limit in wide easts across the sca. It
was only when they returned to the field that they
learned that interception of a sort ad occurred.

According to the radar presentation, contact had
been made at 40 miles. The men watching the
sereen had seen what the pilots could not. “The two
lines representing the Japunese and the P-40 flights
had faithfully converged; then suddenly, at the
very point of meeting, the Japanese formation had
tumned back. Without oxygen, the 3rd Squadron
had been limited more or to 15,000 feet and
undoubtedly the Japanese had been above them.

The Japanese flight seemed pointless, and the
returning pilots of the 8rd Squadron must have
seratched their heads over it. It was both frus-
trating and mysterious. If the Japanese had had
any scrious intention of bombing, they could have
E izht on over the P-40s: for they knew al-
ready that our squadrons could not offer effective
night, intereeption. But instcad they had turncd
bac the first indication that their presence oflf
the const was known.

Our planes were regassed and the stand-by crews
took over. The rest of the squadron returned to
the barracks which men and officers shared alike;
and the report of the completed mission was sent
on its way to Headquarters at Nielson Field.
“They did not have long to sleep. At about 6.30
one of the men on the first breakfast shift snapped
on the mess-hall radio to pick up Don Bell’s news
broadeast. There scemed to be a great deal of
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radio interference that morning. But after a mo-
ment Bell's voice came through. He talking

about Pearl Harbor.
“That was their first news of the war.

The first fighter patrols

At 2.30 the 21st and 17th Squadrons at Nichols
Field were ordered to stations, It was the sixth
succossive morning this had happened, but there
was the same feeling of tenseness in the emergency
operations tent as the men embled by the dim
alow of the blacked-out gas lantern. The night
wil od. The leaves on the trees round the Ai
Depot barely stirred in the breath of the new south
wind. Beyond the open tent fly, the men could
see their planes on the line, ghostly starlight.

There was little talk among the 21Ist’s pilots.
They were a very young outfit; except for their
Commanding Officer, Licutenant W. E. (Iid) Dyess,
all of them were second licutenants and most but &
few months out of flying school. Colonel George’s
talk of two days before was fresh in th
and like the 8rd Squadron they were sure that this
Wi But after ten minutes' waiting they were
told the immedinte emergency was over, and those
who had been routed out of sleep by the alert officer
now returned to their quarters. It began to seem
as if this had been just another night of Japanese
reconn 3

About +.80 the telephone in the tent

yoss, answering, reecived the first fragmentary
news of the attack on Pearl Harbor. The Navy had
had the news si nd most of their in-
were alerted
d up a me
[ was twice repeated, and he recognized the sending
technique of the operator at Pearl Harbor. This
¢ sent to Admiral Hart and to General
hur's Headquarters. pparently it reached
MucArthur about +.00, and within a few
Air Headquarters also had been notified.
Confirmation did not come through, at least to the
24th Pursuit Group, till about At 5.30 Gen-
cral Headquarters issued an offic | statement that
Pear] Harbor had been heavily attacked by Japa-
nese submarines and planes and that a state of war
existed between the United States and Japan.

By this time the pilots at Nichols Field who had
returned to their quarters aftef the first alert
were all back at stations, The pilot of the 21st
Squadron were ordered into their pl

ng and

AN,
by

es and told
to start their engines. Shortly afterwards, however,
Licutenant D, told them to cut their engines,
Phey climbed out of the planes but stayed w h
them, sitting on the ground in the shade of the
wing.- As they talked back and forth, they must
have found the news confusing, for the idea had
been thoroughly drilled into them that Japan was
bound to strike first at the Philippines. Yet here
the Japs were, attacking Pearl Harbor, 5000 miles
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1o the cast, and leaving them alone. It was hard to
understand.

But, though no word came through to them, Jap-
anese p s were at that moment bombing the
Philippine radio_station at i. And just at
dawn a foree of Japanese div heading i
from the Pacifie, caught two of the N
sitting on the water at Davao Gulf
out of hand. Only by adroit mancuve
tender William B. Preston suecced in dodging the
bombs and a little later evade four Japanese de-
stroyers entering the Gulf' in obvious s reh of her.

The day was clear and the south wind blew
gently in a sun-filled sky. To the pilots of the 17th
and 215t Squadrons restlessly waiting by their
planes or at the telephone in the opt ions tents,
it was incongruous. They were at war, but that
was all they knew about it. 1t looked as if they
were expeeted just to sit it out.

But at about 8.00, while one shift of the flight
were eating breakfast, the 17th Squadron
re d orders to cover Clark Field. A heavy
fleet of Japanese bombers was reported north of
Luzon, heading down Lingayen, Gulf,

Phe 17th taok off: and drilled straight north up
the shore of Manila Bay. They took up their patrol
line near Tarlac, east and west across entral
plain. Still farther north, on & line cr
the 20th Squadron was flying another patrol
Clark Field itself the B-17s were taking the air
a precautionary move in case the Japanese bomb-
ers broke through the two fighter patrol Tines
Pheir orders were to stand by on control tower
frequency, which meant that they could not get
very far from the field.

“Fhe members of the 21st Squadron watched the
17uh's planes take off, but there were no orders
for them. They were tense with frustration, and as
time passed tension mounted. Olives and sand-
wiches were brought out to the operations tent and
a tub full of Coca-Cola. They drank the Cokes
but were too excited to do much eating. They
went baek to their planes to .

“Phe $4th Squadron at Del Carmen did not fearn
there was a war on till 8 o'cloc cadquar-
ters got through to them on the dio, which was
their sole m of communication, ordering them
on immediate alert, with pilots in their planes.

At about 880, therefore, the interceptor situa-
tion showed the 20th and 17th Squadrons flying
two defensive patrols cast and west across the
plain at Rosales and Tarlac, while the 8rd was at
Iba, the 84th at Del Carmen, and the 21st at
Nichols, with all operational planes manned and
waiting further instructions.

erew

the

g Rosales,
At

The hombers alerted

Some time after 4 o'clock that morning, while
it was still dark, the telephone rang in Eubank’
quarters at Clark Field, and Major Kennard, the

Air Surgeon, one of the four men who shared them
with him, answered it. He was told that it was a
special message for Colonel Subank — Ma
calling. Eubank came over and listened for a mi
ute, spoke bricfly himsclf, ;and then put the tel
phone down and said, “Well, boys, here it
It’s what we've been waiting for.”
was from General Brereton, an-
nouncing the attack on P Harbor. - Eubunk
ly called in his stafl and gave them the
. Brereton’s instruetions were to be ready for
jon. There was no need to designate the
target. Everyone knew it was Formosa. T
sion had been planned in detail, with the ship-
ping in Takao Harbor the target. Recon
flights earried to the tip of Formosa by the B-17s
had also served as dry runs from which gas
and bomb loads had been worked out.
Towever, when Brereton preseribed the bomb
lond, Eubank suggested that it would be better to
have the hombs stand by. Then if there were
change of loads at the last minute for a special
set, they would not have to be taken off. And
in cnse of a sudden attack on the field, it would be
better not to have the planes standing loaded. The
planes could be bombed up with no loss of time
while the crews were being briefed.  Brereton
agreed and the bombs were ordered to stand by.
The guards on the planes were warned at once
to be on the alert against sabotage, but the news
of war was slow in filtering through to most of the.,

lower echelons. About 5.30, Operations ordered all
Commanding Officers to report to Group Head-;

quarters, Day was just breaking as they came
across the field. They were instructed to get their
men together and tell them that hostilities had
started and that Hickam Field had been attacked.
“Phree pilots had been scheduled to go out on pa-
trol that morning; two of the putrols were now can-
celed in order 1o reserve as many planes as possible
for any strike against the cnemy. The third,
Licutenant Hewitt T Wheless, sent up alone.
After Don Bell’s practically
eryone at Clark Field knew of the attack on Pearl
arbor. The combat erews had collected at Head-
quarters for bricfing, the bombs were ready near
their planes. The Group only needed orders to
load and take off.
“I'he orders would have to come from Ma
Shortly after Eubank had talked with his
i 1 second call came through from General
Brereton, summoning Eubank and his Operations
Officer, Major Birrell Walsh, to Air Headquarters
at Niclson Field. Tt was about daylight when they
took off in a B-18, leaving Major David R. Gibbs
in charge of the Group.

The discussion at ITeadquarters
At best Niclson Field is a bare place, lying clear
of Manila and well out in the open plain. There is
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no natural cover anywhere around it, and on that
morning, under an almost cloudless sky, it must
have scemed particularly exposed. The black and
yellow squares of peacetime still marked the hangar
roof, and gangs of men were banking the walls of
the new operations building that now housed Air
Headquarters with sandb:

The FEAF (Far East Air Foree) stafl” began
gathering at 6.00 and when Eubank and Walsh ar-
rived they were all there except Brereton, who had
gone into Manila to confer with Ma Arthur. e
was still at USAFFE, but the rest met in his office
— Colonel Brady, the Chief of Stafl; Colonel Camp-
Air Warning; Colonel Caldwell, FEAF Op
ations; General Clagett and Colonel George; Licu-
tenant Colonel Sprague, 5th Interceptor Command
Operations; Major Lamb, Signal Officer; Captain
Eads, Engincer Officer of FEAF — with others
going in and out. There was « good deal of discud-
sion and some argument, but it was the unanimous
opinion of those present that the B-17s should be
sent at once against Formosa, Takao Harbor had
been designated as their target since December 63
all they needed was the word to go.

Objective folders on Formosa had been prepared
by Captain Allison Ind, Intelligence Officer of the
Interceptor Command. "Though considerable ef-
fort had gone into these folders, the information
they contained was pretty rudimentary. There
had been neither time nor means to secure data
necessary for calibrated bomb targets and ap-

roach routes. Naturally, sinee our reconnaissance
planes had been under stringent orders not to cross
over Formosa, there were no air photographs.

1t was a little before 8.00 when General Brereton
returned 1o Air Headquarters. As he entered his
office he asked what decision the staff had reached,
but on being told suid, “No. We can’t att il
we're fired on,” and explained t he had been
direeted 1o prepare the B-17s for action but
not to undertake offensive action till ordered.

"There s no question that this s
hock to most of the men in the room. All were
puzzled and ineredulous. They could not under-
stand why the attack on Pearl Harbor, which was
certainly an overt act of war, did not auton ly
release them and United States forces everywhere
from « purcly defensive attitude. Morcover, not
10 strike now meant throwing away the best chance
they were fikely to have of hitting the cnemy on
his own ground.

“The stafl therefore found themsclves back where
they had been two hours before. After good deal
of arguing it was decided that all they could do
under the circumstances was to complete plans
for the operation against Takao Harbor and in the
meantime to send up two or three plancs on photo-
reconnaissance. Brereton then gave Eubank his
arders, specifying that the first objective of the at-
tack would be Jap naval ships and transports and
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that three planes should undertake the photo mis-
sion, with emphasis on Japanese airfields.

This discussion consumed the best part of an
hour. Now Eubank went to the telephone to
call Clark Field and set up the photo mission,
Colonel George pointed out the danger in leaving
the B-17s parked on the field. The path of the
Japanese bombers that had heen reported heading
in from Lingayen Gulf was already being plotted
in the Air Warning room. Ind's ount quotes
Eubank as re ng that the B-17s could not be
m, they had to be serviced,

re at. Whether this was an ac-

curate quotation or not, tension was plainly mount-
ing as the period of inaction lengthened. But in
¢ Clark Ficld Major Gibbs, in response
e commander, had or-

wes, and rumors that began
just after 9.20, two reports
close together announced that Baguio, the sum-
I, and Tuguegarao, a town still further
, had been bombed. On sighting the
patrolling 20th Squadron, the Japanese had turned
about, with the 20th in pursuit; but the Japs were
over 22,000 feet and, with the 20th Squadron at
17,000 at the time they made visual contact, only
two of the P-40s were able to draw up to the
bombers in time to trade shots and get a few bullet
holes for their pains. But the encounter settled all
doubts, and the Japs by bombing Baguio had pro-
vided an overt act for the Philippines.
Brereton immediately put in a eall to Mac-
Arthur’s Headquarters and spoke personally 10
Sutherland, informing him of the two attacks and
again requesting authority to undertake offensive
action. He then warned Sutherland, in Eubank’
recolleetion of his exact words, that *if Clark Field
is attacked, we won't be able to operate on it,”
and turning 1o Colonel Brady, who was listening
in on another line, Brereton instructed him to muke
a note of the conversation. But apparently the re-
quest to ta { ction was still refused.
Almost immediately after this, Eubank and
Walsh, who had been at Air Headquarters for over
an hour and a half, left for Clark Field with in-
structions to prepare for both the reconnaissance
and the attack missions on Formosa. Whether
authorization for the photo mission had come
through from General Headquarters before their
departure is a matter of some doubt. Both Brere-
ton and the daily Summary of Activities of the Head-
quarters, Far East Air Force (hereafter referred 1o
as FEAF Diary), the validity of whose December
entrics is, however, open to some question, state
that a call from General Sutherland authorizing
the reconnaissance came through just before Eu-
banK’s departure. But as Eubank recalls, he did
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not receive orders to dispateh this mission till after
his arrival at Clark Field — an insignificant point
in the light of the nest two hours, but indicative
of the confusion that existed in all quarters that
morning.

1t was after 10.30 when Eubank and Walsh re-
turned 1o Clark Ficld, By then Gibbs had recalled
the B-17s, and the big planes were coming back in.
“There were a few broken clouds building up south
of the field, and a slight haze already touched the
upper slopes of Mount Arayats but to the north
and northwest the sky was a clear blue with visi-
bility unlimited. As the last B-17 rolled over the
% to its revetment, the P-40s of the 20th Squad-
ng cover for the landing

) ed the field and came in to laid,
joining the 17th Squadron, which had landed
earlicr, so that by 1100 both fighter squadrons
were on the ground. They had been fly ing rol
for nearly two and a half hou d needed to
refucl, While the planes were being serviced, the
men went after food, but as soon as they had eaten
they returned to their plane and went on the alert.
“Phe 17th Squadron, which had regassed first, was
ready to go shortly after 11.00. )

AL that time, therefore, all the pursuit were on
the ground and, exeept for the 17th, in their aceus-
tomed station  all were ready for action except
the 20th, which in process of refueling. All
but two of the B-17s based at Clark were on the
ground. These two were flying reconnaissince: one
somewhere near Formosa, and the other, unable 1o
1ake off at the 8.30 alert, now patrolling up the east
const of Luzon.

“Phen, about 11.30, a message from Iba reported
a large formation of planes heading in across the
C e, presumably for Manila. The 17th Pur-
suit Squadron was immediately ordered into the air
by Major Grover to patrol over Bataan and the
entranee to Manila Bay and intercept whatever the
Japanese tried to send through. At the same time,
the 8rd Squadron was ordered to intereept the hos-

ile formation as it came in from the China Sea, and
i ground at Del Carmen,
told to fly cover over Clark Field: but, as will be
scen, the orders finally received by the 8rd were to
fly standing patrol over 1ba, and the S4th received
o message at all. In the meantime, the 21st Squad-
ron at Nichols Field finally got orders when the eall
of *Tally-ho, Clark Field!™” came in over the squad-
ron radio. Two flights instantly took off behind
Dyess and headed straight for Clark Field, and as
they gained altitude Dyess radioed Air Headg
ters that they were on their way. he twelve pla
had just reached the northern borders of the city
when they were e k and told to fly standing
patrol between Corregidor and Cavite. The third
flight of the 21st Squadron had had trouble with
their brand-new P-40s and did not get off the ground
for a good five minutes afier the others had left.
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They made the preseribed cirele down over Laguna
de Bay to éheck their guns over water but, doing
so0, lost contact with the first two flights and set out
for @lark Field by themsclves, having presumably
swung out of radio range ‘when the orders to fly
standing patrol had come through.

“This left the 20th Squadron to cover Clark Field.
The 19th Group was then holding a staff mecting;
for, just before noon, orders had finally come
through from Air Headquarters to dispatch both
squadrons on an attack mission against known nir-
dromes in Formosa, The attack was to be delivered
with 100- and 300-pound bombs at the last possible
duylight hour. Apparently orders for the photo-
graphic mission were yet in force, for the crews of at

least two of the three scheduled planes were still
preparing for it; yet it scems curious that they had

ot taken off on their mission before noon. The only
explanation given is that when the planes were
scheduled it was found that there were not enough
meras to zo round, and a B-18 had to be sent to
ichols Ficld for them. This plane, according to
aptain William E. McDonald, returned to Clark
d shortly before 12.30.
Back at Niclson, in Air Headquarters, George had
been “begging and begging” to have the Fortresses
put in the air; it would be two or three hours hefore
they could take off; and meanwhile, through inde-
cision, delays in transmitting orders, and broken-
down and sabotaged communications, the sole
fighter cover for Clark Field in the next twenty

minutes amounted to as many of the 20th Squad-

ron’s planes as might get off the ground in that time;
the six brand-new P-40s of the 21st Pursuit Squad-
ron coming up from Nichols Ficld, of which, due to
{heir condition, only three would be able to fly the
distance: and a single flight of the 8rd Squadron
which, as will be scen, quite fortuitously found
themselves over Clark Field for a few short moments
hefore the enemy appeared.

If this had been the goal of Japancse mancuver-
ing. it would hardly have worked out more aptly for
them; and their own pilo hting the glitter of
the B-17s parked on the green field below, must
have found it hard to accept the evidence of their
own eyes.

Iba is hit

At Iba, the Commanding Officer of the 3rd
Squadron, Licutenant. Thorne, had called Air
Headquarters for instructions as soon as the com-
mercial radio broadeast had come through. He
was told 10 stand by for instructions. The eighteen
ranking pilots were assigned to the operational
planes and went out on the line and climbed into
the cockpits. They sat there all morning. Their
breakfasts were brought out to’ them, sandwiches
and coffce, No instructions came through from
Tleadquarters, They had no idea of what might
be happening in the rest of Luson. There was
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nothing for them to do but sit in their planes with
the mountains at their backs and the sea in front
of them, bright in the windy sunlight.

About 11.00 the telephone and telegraph at Iba
both suddenly went dead. From then on the only
means of communicating with the rest of Luzon was
the radio, and the unusual amount of interference
made that increasingly uncertain. No instrueti
had come through from Headquarters since Licu-
tenant Thorne's original request for orders
7 o'clock, and the 3rd Squadron’s 18 planes were
still on the ground.

“'he shadows of the mountains had receded as the
duy drew on, and the airfield with its little cluster
of buildings and palm trees now shimmered in the
full heat of the sun. Talk had worn thin. The men
sitting in their planes listened to fragmentary re-
ports that Baguio and Aparri had been bombed.
“They didn’t know whether to believe them. Mostly
their eyes kept watching the empty sky above the
empty sea.

About 1180 the radar picked up
of bombers, nearly 100 miles out
ately had the men start their engines; but inst
coming straight in, the Japanese started v
back and forth, apparently to kill time, far out over
the ocean. The 8rd Squadron remained on the
ground with their engines running and using up gas.
But shortly after, orders came through from Group
Ieadquarters to take off and climb to 15,000 feet
and fly standing patrol over Ib

“They were in three flights of six plancs each under
Licutenant Thorne, @nd Licutenant E. R. Woolery,
and Licutenant I, 8. Ellis, but they never got to-
gether as a squadron. The pressure under which
they had had 1o take off may artly
countable, but mainly it was due to poor communi
eations. The air was in horrible shape by then, with
contradictory orders coming in from every direetion
and everyone shouting, and at times it was almost
impossible 10 talk even between planes flying wing
1o wing. In the confusion, “B” flight lost the others
— Woolery’s radio had gone out of commission —
10 they héaded at top speed for Manila, hoping to
pick up orders from leadquarters once they were
near enough.

They cireled over Nichols and Nielson for a fow
minutes, but nothing happened. They couldn't get
anything definite over the radio, but suddenly the
“Tally-ho!" call came through and someone started
shouting what sounded like * Bandits over Clark!”
and they flew wide-open up to Clark Ficld.

When they got up, secing that everything looked
normal, they decided it hud been u false alarm. By
then their gas had begun to run low, for they had
made wide-open flights from Iba to Manila and from
Manila to Clark, so they headed back to Iba to gus
up and try to get some further orders.

As the flight came out over the coast and began to
draw near their home field, they saw a freighter and

rize formation

Thorne immedi-
instead of
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a PT boat a little offshore. The P'T' boat was zig-
zagging like mad, and they could see from her smoke
and the long white feather of wake on the blue sea
that the freighter was traveling at full speed. It
looked queer. But they could get no orders, They
couldn’t get anything at all. Their radios had ap-
parently been jammed. So Woolery decided to go
on in. He started his approach with four of the
planes following him down while the fifth, piloted
by 2d Licutenant A. E. Krieger, stayed up to cover
their landing

Kricger, circling, saw Wooler; plane touch
wheels and start to roll. The others were on their
appronch with their wheels down. And then the
ficld went off in a single blinding flash that earried
from the northwest corner clear through the length
of the air strip.

Krieger never saw what happened to the other
planes of “B” flight. e gave his own ship every-
thing it could take and started back up. Then he
saw (he bombers, directly over the field, proceeding
serenely on their course at something ubove 28,000
feet. ile could never have come up with them
even if he had had oxygen.

He was going up so fast that he had to level off

around 10,000 feet to let his engine cool. He looked
down and saw what appeared 6 be a squadron of
>-355 circling the field, and for an instant he thought
they must be trying to land and wondered how they
could help seeing that the ficld had been bombed.
“Then it occurred to him that they might be Japanese
and he started down for a closer look. They were.
“They were flying a beautiful Lufberry circle around
the field and strafing everything in sight. They were
beautiful planes, all white, with big red spots on
their wings. When they came out of the smoke and
the sun glanced on their backs, he could see them
clear. It was his first sight of the Zero.

He started to eall “All pursuit to Iba,” but just
then the Clark tower came in with “All pursuit to
Clark,” and looking in that direction he saw a great
column of smoke leaning in the sky.

He knew that pretty soon all available planes
would be going there, so he called “All rd Pursuit
{0 Iba," and laid his plane over and went down after
the Japanese planes. He could not get his sights on
them. They were fl i i
get under them. 1ie had never had any briefing on
the Zero; he knew nothing of its potential . The
only way he could think of to get at them was to
join their Lufberry circle, which he did, shooting at
the plane ahead. Tt dropped away and suddenly he
realized that there was tracer coming past him.
Looking back, he found three Zeros on his tail.

Somchow he managed to pull away from them,
and about then he reali
last 25 gallons of gas. e called for instructions and
like a clear miracle Licutenant Thorne’s voice came
in telling him to try for Rosales. He headed for it
and made it safely, but his gas ran out as he was

ized that he was down to his,
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iing back up the strip. Thorne was waiting there
I whout four other members of the squadron
Ihe two flights with him had patrolled over Iba
as ordered till summoned to Clark; but, secing no
attacking planes and picking up Krieger's eall, they
flew all-out back to Iba, where some of them got
into the fight before it broke off. Then, with tanks
running low, Thorne led the way to Rosales, though
4t few, missing his call, returned to Clark in time to
get into action there.

Before long they were joined by two others. Then
4 lone B-18, shot full of holes, flew in from Clark
Field with a pilot who had never handied & B-18 be-
fore and a radio sergeant for co-pilot. These men
told them a little about the attack there. They had
1o wait till gas and ammunition could be trucked up
to them, and that night they werd ordered down to
Nichols Field, where they found other members of
the squadron, who had been seattered like leaves

over Luzon.

Iha was completely destroyed. Fora place of its
size the Japanese had poured in an ext -aordinary
weight of bombs, and they had aiwccomplished what
must have been one of their prime abjectives, the
destruction of the radar unit.

At the time of the attack the ridar-erew had heen
plotting the incoming flight and trying to get their
plots through to Headquarters. They were killed
their posts, as were the 1wo officers and two en-
listed men in the control tower, who were trying to

warn “B" flight of the bomber formation over their
* heads. All the other buildings were v d, and even

the little grove of palm trees. No one survived who

hot in a foxhole when the bombs struck. The
menwerecompletely dazed when they finally erawled
ot of the wreckage and began picking up the
wonnded. They had no way of communicating with
the rest of Luzon now, not even radio. There was
nothing left at all, except a few truci There were

o drugzs for the wounded. The dispensary had been

completely wiped out.

“ Bandits over Clark”

OF the sis brand-new P-40s that started out for
Clark Field after checking their guns over Laguna
v, two almost immediately had to turn back
when their engines, which had not been slow-timed,
started throwing oil. The oil plastered the wind
<eroens, and the pilots — barely able to see — had
« but to return to base. The four remaining
all second lieutenants, continued 1o Clark;
S, 1shio flying with A. F. Williams on his wing,
and 1. . Cole with J. L. McGown. Everything
-oful us they came over the field, There

hostile aireraft, but away off in the
west ahave the mountains they could see a flight of
planes heading (owards the China Sea, and pre-
cuming that they must be the rest of their own
squadron, the four instinetivel, *took out after them.

“Phis left the air above Clark Field entirely unde-

e

no choi
pilots
8.

seemed pe
wasn'l i S
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fended; for the 34th Squadron at Del Carmen had
not received the orders to fly cover and was still at
standing alert on the field. So, until the 20th Squad-
ron, which just finished gassing up at 12.15,
should into the air, the fate of Clark Ficld de-
pended entirely on the eficiency of the air-warning
system,

A test before the war had shown how uncertain
this was likely to be. Native observers, but few of
whom had heen trained in plane identification, had
{0 send their reports in over the lines of the Philip-
pine Telephone System to Headquarters at Nielson,
where the reported flights were plotted and the data
relayed to Clark Field, from which in turn orders
were issued to the various squadrons. In this cum-
bersome arrangement delays were frequent and in-
evitable. Dircet communication between Clark,
Niclson, and Nichols Fields was by a teletype circuit,
which was supplemented by the telephone line and
radio. Each of the three fields had an SCR 297 set
which was used for both point-to-point and ground-
{o-air communication. That morning there had
been continual difficulty with the radio set, so when
the wires went dead, Clark Ficld was virtually iso-
Jated. No further messages, of course, had come in
from Tba; but there had been reports fifteen minutes
before noon of an unidentified flight of planes out
over Lingayen Gulf. This failed to materialize.
Around the field, the B-17s were in process of bomb-
ing up. Some of the air crews were at mess, and
others were just about to go after their food. he
engines of the first flight of P-40s were being turned

over.

At 12,30 the staff meeting of the 19th Group,
planning the raid on Formosa, was still in session.
Near the end of the field the first flight of the 20th
Squadron’s P-40s were lined up to take of. The
ordnance crews were busy with the B-17¢ and al-
ready had several of the big planes loaded. At
Lieutenant Fred ‘T, Crimmins Jr.’s ship was
dy and he sent his erew off to get lunch. They
had just time 1o make the third shift in the 30th
Squadron mess. The radio was turned on there for
the news, and 1o their astonishment Don Bell was
just coming in with “an unconfirmed report that
they're bombing Clark Field.” Crimmins himself
walked neross the field towards the hangars with
one of the plane’s waist guns, which needed a new
buffer screw. Fverything scemed routine. There
+ B-17 in the hangar for a camouflage paint job,
working on it, dnd

was
but at the moment no one wa
Crimmins passed under its
shop at the rear. He had just ha
gun over to the sergeant there when the base fire
alarm started its grunting, and both he and the
sergeant ran back to the front of the hangar. A
P-40 was taking off and another was beginning its
run across the field. The insistent, hoarse bleating
of the klaxon continued, and instinctively both men
looked downwind to the north.
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High over the green points of the mountains they
saw the planes. The sky there was a clear and cloud-
less blue, and the bombers came on steadily out of
the northwest in two huge shallow Vs, one behind
the other, their wings glistening in the sunlight.
They were flying above 18,000 feet, but the un-
familiar and unrhythmic droning of their engines

s audible through the uproar of the P-40s taking
off. There were 54 of them, and they held their
formation with absolute precision, as though they
were on review.

There had been no warning of their immediate
approach, and the first wave was almost at the re-
lease line when they were sighted. Licutenant
W. E. Strathern, the field’s Operations Officer,
sounded the alarm and ordered the 20th Squadron
off the ground; but there was time left for only four
of them to get into the air. The n five, which
were in process of taking off, and five others still oh
the lin were caught in the bomb pattern and were
all destroyed.

The bombs were dropped in train diagonally
across the field. They began falling on the north-
west corner, in the row of Officers” Quarters, and
proceeded through the parked P-40s, the Ieadquar-
ters Building, and the shop and hangar area. The
bombs from the sccond wave followed almost im-
mediately. Like the formation that had attacked
Iba, the Japanese plines never deviated from their
course but continued straight on (o the southeast
until they disappeared in the d clouds.

Behind them they left the field blazing. Most of
he buildings had been hit, and many were afire.
he. men could do little to save them, for there was
1o fire apparatus. Another casualty had been the
communications center and as a result, after its
initial call for pursuit, Clark Field was unable to
ask for help. With all wires cut, the base was en-
tirely isolated. It was diflicult to see what had
happened, for besides the pall of dust, mushrooming
clouds of black oil smoke from a blazing oil dump
behind the hangars came rolling across the field.
The smoke grew so heavy that the sun wa
it was hard 1o sec more than 50 or 60 feet.

As the crash of the bombing ceased and the un-
even beat of the Jupanese planes faded away, men
began to lift themselves out of the slit trenches.
he cries of wounded sounded through the smoke
from all over the ficld. Almost all the casualties were
people who had kept on running for cover after the
bombs began to fall; most of those who dropped flat
on the ground escaped injury. But many had been
caught completely unaware. ‘The officers’ mess,
which at the time was serving fifty or more, and the
90th Pursuit Squadron’s mess tent, right beside the
hangars, both reccived direct hits, as did the kitch-
ens, in which many of the Filipino help were killed.
The Field Infirmary had been wiped out but the men
were treated on the lawn in front of it and more were.
handled at the 19th Group’s Dispensary, and from
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there they were driven up to Fort Stotsenburg
Hospital.

The strafers come in

"Phe work had hardly begun, however, before the

roar of airplane engines sounded over the field and

its broke through the smoke. The
made their runs from the open cast end of
the field, coming in only a few feet above
ground and using their machine gun tracer to sight
on the parked Fortresses and then letting go with
Lheir 20-mm cannon. Only a fow B-17s were de-
stroyed by the high-ultitude bombing at 12.40; and
s Eubank made the round of his Group immedi-
cly afterwards, he had felt pretty much en-
couraged by the small amount of dumage. But the
strafers destroyed all but two or threc of the B-175
and damaged those. They also attacked buildings.
gun emplacements, and personnel at will. There
was little to prevent them.

The only pursuit opposition at first was that of-
fered by the four. P-40s Licutenant Moore had led
into the air. These had not yet gained combat alti-
tude when they tangled with the first incoming
Zeros; but 2nd Lieutenant R. D. Keator shot down
onc of them almost at once and Lieutenant Moore,
2 little later, brought down two others. The P-#0s,
howes were too heavily outnumbered to ac-
complish much.

A few minutes later, three planes of the 21st
Squadron arrived at Clark Field. Four had taken
off over the Zambales Mountains but had not gone
far before they heard the call for “All pursuits to
Clark Field. All pursuits to Clark, Inemy bombers
overhead” coming in on their radios. They could
hear the mounting excitement in the man's voi
it became almost hysterical; and then they heard
the bombs bursting in their headsets. As they turned
back to Clark, they saw a tree of black smoke stand
ing on the plain; and it kept rising as they neared
and when they got close they could i
its roots. Cole's engine started shooting oil about
then, and he had 1o turn back, so only the three
were left. ‘Then McGown disappeared and there
were just Grashio and Williams.

Down below they could see the enemy planes
darting in and out of the smoke close ubove the
fires. The two P-40 pilots circled up on top, trying
to nerve themselves to go down after the enemy.
“Then they saw one of the planes break into the clear
only three or four thousand feet below them and
they dove for it, and got it. Just then, as they saw
the Jap start down, they discovered that there were
two Zeros on their own tails, and they split, diving
into the smoke cloud. One of the Zeros came in after
Grashio and put a cannon shell through his wing;
but he got away and returned to Nichols Fiold.

Fourteen miles south, at Del Carmen, the pilots of
the 84th Pursuit Squadron had been waiting in their
well-worn P-35s when they saw great clouds of
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smoke and dust climbing in the northern sky. Lieu-
tenant Marrett immediately took the squadron up
to intercept without orders. There was a 6000-foot
ceiling at Del Carmen, and as the lead flight reached
the base of the clouds they were jumped by two
Zeros. ‘These were driven off by the arrival of the
other two flights; but Marrett’s guns had fa iled to
operate and he was compelled to return to
Jeaving the squadron under the command of Licu-
tenant Ben 8. Brown.

Heading towards Clark, the 83th
own privite war with several Zeros. The Japanese
were very cocky and came right into the A i
formation, and the ensuing fight spilled it
across the sky. The American pilots soon di
ered that the Japanese plancs could outmancuver
theirs in overy respect except maximum diving
speed, and owing to their own inexperience and the
worn-out condition of their guns, the fight went on
for some time in a seesaw fushion, with no confirmed
Kills being registered, though planes on both sides
were hit. By the time the fight wa: broken off, the
Japanese strafers and dive bombers had finished
their work on Clark Ficld, and the 34th returned to
Del Carmen. '

"The only other American pursuit to get into the
fight that day were the six planes of 27 flight of
“the 3rd Squadron. Apparently they came over Clark
at the beginning of the strafing attack and became
tangled up with a bunch of Zeros almost at once.
They were very low on gas by then; at least one of
the planes ran dry in combat and it pilot, 2nd Lieu-
tenant G. 0. Ellstrom, was strafed in his chute. Two
‘more P-40s were lost in this action. The first crashed
with its pilof, 2nd Lieutenant V. R. Ircland, into
the side of Mount Arayat. Licutenant II. 8. Ellis
had 1o bail out of his. He was cutting round a cloud,
looking for a Zero he had just chased into it, when
he discovered that his own ship was not only on fire
but its tail surfaces were practically burned off. Tt
was impossible to pull up 1o kill his speed, so he
jumped anyhow and made it safely to the ground,
except for a k on the head from his own plane
that kept him from flying from then on. **C" flight
was not able to prevent the Japanese from strafing
the field, but they had at least drawn blood, and
Lllis alone was officially eredited with three Zeros.

r

The lone Fortress from Del Monte

Meanwhile a B-17 coming up from Mindanao to
have a wing repaired had arrived over Clark Field
at the exact moment of the Japanese high-altitude
attack. Because of a report relayed from Del Monte
that the field had been under attack, the crew had
appronched cautiously, keeping within the cloud
bank over Arayat and scarching with field glasses
through the holes in the overcast. But at 12.35
Clark Field lay peacefully on the plain, the un-
puinted B-17s and P-40s shining in the open sun-
light. They let down through the overcast, broke
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clear of it, and then, crossing the ficld at 500 feet,
let down their wheels. At that instant the first
bombs struck the row of quarters and the incredu-
lous men at the windows of the big plane watched
the string of explosions run out across the field. The
pilot, Licutenant E. R. Tash, reacted instantly,
ordered wheels up, and headed back and up under
full throttle towards the overcast. As the ship

ban the navigator had a glimpse of the bomber:
gleaming in the sunlight and still in perfect forma-

tion, entering the same clouds far above them.

“They went up to 4000 feet and then, on the far
side of Mount Arayat, they circled among the
clouds and tried to figure out what they ought to do.
Hasty caleulations showed that they had enough gas
1o get back to Del Monte, with twenty-five minutes’
extra flying time, They decided therefore to stay
where they were until they had used up this margin
and then 1o take another look at Clark. If the ficld
looked all right, they would go in; otherwise they
would return to Mindanao.

Once in their circling they saw another B-17 in the
distance. They flew towards it, hoping to get into
formation with it; but the other pilot took off for
cloud cover. This plane had been up the cast coast
of Luzon on reconnaissanee and had been recalled
at noon. The pilot had seen Tash’s plane but had
1ot been able to identify it as friendly.

At the end of their allotted time, Tash started
Dack for Clark. The air was clear of planes as they
neared Arayat, but as they came closer to the field
with its towering pillar of smoke, they could sce
planes flashing in and out of the smoke above the
tered buildings and the burning aircraft. At
first ‘Tash and his crew mistook these for friendly
pursuits flying the regular traffic pattern before go-
ing in 10 land, and they themselves went jubilantly
ahead, letting down their wheels once more, and
firing two red flarcs, the signal of the day. About 4
miles out, however, just as they were turning into
the base leg, a pursuit plane hurtled out of the
clouds in front of them in a long vertical dive that
carried it straight into the ground. At the same

stant the co-pilot reported antiaireraft fire and
Tash decided that Clark Field was no place for
them. As he banked away, Sergeant J. U. Sowa
in the top dome reported three planes diving on
them from 2000 feet above.

“Pash took the B-17 down under full power to the
trectops; and as they leveled off, the fighter planes
closed in. They peeled off their original formation
and came in singly from the rear and banked away
10 the left as they finished their run. Sergeant M.
Bibin, the bombardicr, who hud volunteered to
handle one of the waist guns, was struck in the chest
by the opening burst from the leading Jupancse
plane, He was knocked to the floor but did not lose
consciousness. The Jap pilot came in so close on the
B-17's tail that the tracer from his wing guns was
converging out in front of Tash and his co-pilot, 2d
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Licutenant D. H. Kellar. The aileron cables were
half cut through; so were the flap cables; and one of
the propellers was hit. After that Tush had to fly
the ship dead level for fear of spinning in.
As the first Zero finished its run, the second took
its place on the B-17's tail, where the side and top
sunners couldn’t get at it; but as the third Jap
pecled off, Pfe. A. . Norgaard, manning the top
radio guns, caught the Zero in his sights, and his
tracer chewed right down the length of its belly
from the prop spinner to the tail wheel. The Jap
nese not go down, but he flopping pretty
badly the last time they saw him. The other two
Zoros left them alone after that and they went on
* through the deepening overcast, still at low altitude,
so that they had to feel their way between the
ns. They had onc more bad
moment when they picked up the high Del Monté
(ableland in the clear ahead of them and saw smoke
rising from the area in which the airfields lay. They
hadn't enough gas left to do anything but go on
But the smoke proved to be mer brush fire,
and they made a safe landing at « little after &
o'clock.

On the ground
“he pursuit action and the diversion, if it could
be called that, ereated by the passage of Licutenant

“Fash’s plane had no material effect on the strafing
of Clark Field. The Jupanese worked over the

burning Fortresses, the hangars, and the shops with

AT CLARK FIELD

up for paint jobs were taxied out of the bur)
hangars, but both were destroyed almost
medintely after coming under enemy fire. In s
of the strafing and through all the confusion, the
task of evacuating the wounded went on without
interruption. ‘There were more to pick up™ than
the ambulanees and stretcher crews could handle,
and both offic nd enlisted men took reconnuis-
sance cars and trucks
When after forty-five minutes the Jupanese ut
ast withdrew, they had done a thorough job.
Clark Field as a tactical base was virtually de-
stroyed. The dties were very high, about
250 wounded — besides civilians — and 100 dead.
There was not a single flyable plane on the base.
Two or three of the B-17s were pieced out with
parts of complotely ruined planes sufficiently
to be flown down to Mindanao within the next
few days, but they were never in good tactical
commission. All other planes on Clark Field were
wiped out. Though most of these were observation
types or outdated or obsolete bombers like the
B-18s, B-10s, and A-27s, they also included the
P-10s of the 20th Pursuit Squadron. "The fiekd
was pockmarked with bomb craters. The hangars
and shops were gutted, and though the first fury
of the fires had begun to die down, smoke still
rose high and black above the base, like mourning
for the dead, and the trucks and ambulances still
crawled ceasclessly across the field and funneled
into the r Fort Stotsenburg.
N i striking foree of B-17s had heen

Z

ad to

no more dircet opy than the

could produce. That was little enough. The planes
broke so sharply out of the smoke, they came i
s0 low, and the 37-mm guns were so slow at trav-
ersing, that the gunners could not follow the planes
across the field, though one crew did get the plane
attacking them when it was obscrved that the Japa-
nese pilot kept repeating the exact line of his run.
“They pointed their gun to pick up his exit, waited
1ill he came again, took him going away.

The attack had broken so suddenly and unex-
pectedly after the departure of the high-altitude
bombers that many of the air crews who had run
out on the ficld as soon as the last bombs fell were
caught in or beside their planes, and the strafing
was carried out with such savage persistence that
most of the men on the base were pinned down in
their slit trenches until it was over. The heat of
the fires, the choking clouds of smoke, the roar of
airplane engines, and the gunfirc made any organ-
ized resistance impossible; but both Eubank and
Gibbs continued to move among the dispersed
planes, encouraging the men and directing their
cfforts in defending the aircraft and fighting fir
Some of the enlisted men had gone to the B-17s
without orders and were firing the machine guns
in the grounded planes against the enem, Other:
filled in among the antiaircraft gun erews as cas
ties occurred. The two B-17s that had been laid

¢
cut in half. Butin efficiency their loss was infinitely
greater, for from now on all B-17s would have to
be based on Mindanao and use Clark Field merely
as o staging area. The wear and tear on engines
and air crews alike would be far more than doubled,
and so would the time spent in reaching targets.

Who was fo blame?

“The handling of our homber foree that morning
hats become the subject of a controversy which time
has done little to dispel, for no record of the da
events exists that is wholly satisfactory to the his-
torian. The key undoubtedly lies in Brereton’s first
conference with Sutherland, of which there are two

counts. Brereton's, sum-
hed Diarics, states: —

ally oppos
d from his publ
“That he reported to General Headquarters about
5 A, that he did not sce MacArthur but conferred
with Sutherland and told the latter tht he wished
to mount the B-17s for an attack against Formosa.
Sutherland agreed, and when Brereton left he was
wnder orders to get the hombers ready but not to
undertake offensive action till ordered. . .+

These orders, according to Brereton, did not come
through till 11.00 .., though the FEAF Diary im-
plics that permission was reccived in u telephone call
from MacArthur at 10.14, that Brereton issued or-
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ders for the two Fortress squadrons at Clark Field to
attack known airdromes on Formosa “at the lat
daylight hour that visibility will permit,” substan-
tinting Brereton's account except in the matter of
timing.

Opposed is Sutherland’s account of the sume con-
ference. here condensed from my notes of an inter-
view in Manila on June 4, 1945: —

S

Jerland began by saing that ull the B-17 had
ween ordered to Del Monte some days hefore. On a
eheck it was found that only half ad been seat . .
wauld he
al dap attucks, “This direet order had not
d. . . . As Sutherlund reealls, there was
plan 1o bomb Formosa, but Brereton suid that
1o have photos first. There ¥ i
going wp there Lo bomb without Kenving what they
were after. Halding the bouders at Clark Field the
Jirst day was entirely duc to Brereton. [Walics mine.]

GHQ wantedd the planes where the
from
been o

Over a year later, General MacArthur emphati-
cally confirmed Sutherland’s statement in a news
paper interview and stated that any serious proposal

! 1o bomb Formosa should have been brought per-

1o him by Breréton. There is no reason to

suppose that MacArthur would necessarily have op-

posed the bombing mission, for in a letter to Admiral

Hart, on November 7, he had stated that one of the

four missions of the Army was to

() Conduct air raids against enemy forces
installations within tuctical operating radius of avail-

able bases.

Howeve

Arthur may not have felt feee to authori:

o fensive action until he had received direet confirm
tion from Washington that we were officially
Sutherland’s statement lends color to this vi

The Jast War Department directive received at
GHQ hefore the war was to the effect that hostilities
might start at any time. We here in the Pl i
could not do anything to provoke hostilities
could take any defensive action. "This direc
i . ahout five days hefore the outbreak of
war. During those five days Col. George made re-
ng reported carly
Japanese fl . George wanted to intereept and
came to ask permission. We Lold him he could effect
it, but that he must act defensively, but if the Japs
came in close enough he could go o it. . .. The

10 operate purely defensi There was
no question of that; and with the War Department
e on the part of GHQ.

therefore, that there was un-

rs till shortly after

One must surmist
cortainty in both H
10.00 (if we
11.00 (if Brere curate).
have been additional une atics in Air Headquar-
ters. Forone thing, the matter of prior photo recon-
n: rce undoubtedly had weighed very much on
Brereton’s mind, and as carly as December 1he had
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sked (but not received) permission to conduct high-
ade reconnaissance over Formosa.

“Phere was also another ramifying element under-
lying the conference between Sutherland and Brere-
ton, for reading between the lines it becomes evident
that contact between Air and General Headquarters
ne points become difficult. Two evidences
It s to which Head-

quarters was responsible for sen
Del Monte. Brereton's Headquarters have consist-
aintained that the proposal originated with
nd that Sutherland was reluctant to give per-
wion for the transfer and only agreed on the
understanding that they be brought back either to
Cebu or Luzon as soon as dispersal fields were avail-
able, on the ground that no infantry protection
could be provided Mindanao, '

Sutherland’s eategorical statement that General
Headquarters ordered all B-17s sent south is there-
fore made to seem inconsistent ; but actually there is
1o reason why it should not be so, and General Head-
quarters in the last days before hostilities may well
have ordered all the planes to Mindanao. However,
since all such orders were transmitted orally, for the
most part by telephone, this point also must remain
conjectural. Y n reading between the lines,
aware that Air Headquarters also was reluc-
ad the B-17s to Del Monte. The expected
second group is hardly a valid reason for
not sending all the planes down; more convincing
c¢ been the interruption to group training.
Brereton himself points out that the planes were to

led

3

be recalled ter ily and that he
their return only on the night of December 7-8.
“I'he second evidet it scems to me, of difficult

the fact that ] George went di-
rectly to MacArthur’s Headquarters to ask permis-
sion 1o attempt intereeption of Jap planes before the
war. Whether George did this because he could gain
no credence in Air Headquarters for his belicf that
the night-flying planes were Japanese, 1 do not
know; nor do I know whether he went with General
Brereton’s approval, perhaps because it was felt
that his word would carry more weight with General
MacArthur. In any case it was an unusual proce-
dure — so unusual that some air officers refuse to
believe he did go. But that he did is indisputable.

In the absence of contemporary records, the
reader must draw his own conclusions about the acts
and omissions of December 8. Shortly after his De-
rture from the Philippines, Brereton
e made a report 1o General Amold,
available even to the

. Global Mission does
it; he only says that he has never been
able 1o get the real story of what happened. He
ither considered Brercton’s Diarics a complete
and accurate account, nor felt that Sutherland’s

furnished a full i
The official history lends more weight to the

relat
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AF Diary as u contemporary source than I am
ined to. The document itsel s of later
jcal and in its context. For in-
y in its pages conforms to that
ven in the 24th Pursuit Group Diary, which could
not have been consulted till months after the events
issuc. 1t does not conform as closcly as docs
General Brereton’s account to the experiences of the
men 1 interviewed.

In any case the picture that emerges is one of
confusion and indecision. The FEAF stafl” scem
{0 me to have become so preoceupied with their
planned attack on Takuo Harbor that, when it was
temporarily denied them, they were left at loose
ends. Yet, when authorization finally came through,
(his raid was abandoned in favor of the one to be
made on airfields at last daylight. This decision,
paurticularly if the photo mission should bear fruit,
was undoubtedly sound, yet it would probubly have
kept the bombers on the ground and vulnerable for
two hours more, and there is little evidence tha
areat concern was felt for their s i
Ead's account of George's begging and begging that
they be put in the air.

The whole di fon is, after all, one of purely
academic interest and here, as in the case of Lee at
Gettysburg, there is but one sound e planation: in
the Philippines the personnel of our armed forces,
almost without exception, like all of us here at home,
iled to assess accurately the weight, speed, and
efficiency of the Japanese air force.

g
8

The odds against us

In one day our Air Corps in the Philippines lost
half their combat planes and from that day they
ceased to function as an cffective air force. Ilow
can one account for their failure?

“Fhe answer is simple cnough. They wer: over-
whelmed. They did not have the numbers, the
equipment, or the training to stand off a first-class
air power. The Jpancse, with an air force of 2700
first-linc combat planes, had about 480 based on
Formosa. Of these they threw 192 over Luzon
(108 bombers, 84 fighters) on December 8. Against
that force our Air Corps could put into the air 88
first-line combat planes in real combat condition.

1t is necessary to keep that fact in mind if onc is
(o understand what happened in the Philippines.
Seldom in any war have men been asked to stand

against greater odds. In the Battle of Britain,
British fighter pilots were flying the finest. pursuit

<hip in the world. They had a good system of air-
ficlds, good communications, adequate air warning,
and aircraft replacements at least up to a point.
But there were no replacements for our men in the
Philippines; they had to fight with what they had;
there was no more. Their communications were in-
adequate. So was the tem. There
were not enough fields 1o permit effective dispersal
of their planes. Only one field had anything like real
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sex, and the antiaireraft ammuni-
s of the obsolete powder-

reraft del
tion in the Philippines wi
fuse type that could not reach above 20,000 feet.

s 1 have said, there was @ shortage of oxy
and oxygen equipment which limited the effe
ceiling of their pursuit planes to 12,000 or 15,000
feet. Again and still more damaging the short-
age of .50 caliber ammunition which cven before
the war was so acute that at least one squadron
was unable to test and boresight the guns in their
P-40s.  T'h mmunition short. meant that
ctically all gunnery training was carried on in
355, using the .80 caliber guns mounted on the
age. The first time most of our pilots fired the
guns in their P-$0s at a target was when they en-
countered their first Jup adversary.

In the rush of preparing for war there had heen
neither time nor opportunity for the five pursuit
squadrons (o train as a group. Covrdinated de-

fensive effort on their part depended entirely on
naintaining contact with Group Ieadquarters at

Clark Field or with Intereeptor Headquarters at
Niclson Field, just outside Manila. Inone inst
as we have seen, orders from these two sources con-
flicted, but aside from that they were hand apped
by the fact that the reception range of P-10 radios
at that time was only about 20 miles,

Phese weaknisses were, of course, paralleled by
similar deficiencies in the Army ground forees
N but neither was to play important roles

the action of the opening day of war on Luzon. The
Japanese air thrusts were entirely preoceupicd
with wiping out our air power. It was t
air encounter in which the Ju
invaluable advantage of battl .

In the light of these odds it is pointless to blame
the Philippine de fuilures i judgment of
any onc or more of our Commanding Officers.
Mistakes were made; there was undoubtedly
fusion and indecision in the various Headqus
but there was little opportunity for any exerci
strategy in the air. The Japancse were able to throw
a blanket of airplanes over Luzon. The best chanee
a small air force has of hurting a much more power-
ful opponent is to strike offensively out of seeret
bases and, if possible, to strike fi

Our Air Force was de
as a people we subseribed to principles of

Dbecause
ational

honor and specifically because the Tast Wa De-
partment directive received at General 1ead-
quarters in Mani though warning that an atta

stated explicitly
ble, the United
un committed

might be expected at any time,
that if hostilities proved unavoid
States wanted to be sure that P
the first overt act. Until the Japanes
fore. our outnumbered squadrons were limited, or
could almost say. condemned, o purely defensive
operations from fields well known to the ciiemy.
Lven with hetter luck on December 8, their defeat
was inevitable.
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